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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

NORTHERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA

MICHAEL D. MORSHED, Case No.: 13-CV-521 YR

Plaintiff, ORDER GRANTING |IN PART AND DENYING IN
PART DEFENDANT’SMOTION FOR SUMMARY
VS. JUDGMENT (DKT.NoO. 62)

COUNTY OF LAKE, et al .,

Defendant.

Plaintiff Michael Morshed brings the instantiaa alleging a total of seven claims arising
from: (1) discrimination and hostile environmentdssment based on his national origin, as wel
retaliation, in violation of Titlé/Il of the Civil Rights Act of 1964 (“Title VII”), 42 U.S.C. section
2000eet seq. (2) national origin discrimination, harassrmemnd retaliation in violation of the

California Fair Employment and Housing Act (“FEHA3nd (3) violation of the Civil Rights Act g

1871, 42 U.S.C. section 1981 and 1983 on account afnatdrigin harassment. (Complaint, Dk{.

No. 1.)

Defendant County of Lake (“County”) has fll@ Motion for Summaryudgment (Dkt. No.
44-4) on the grounds that: (1) Plaintiff cannot Bks& a prima facie clen of discrimination or
retaliation under Title VIl or FEHAsince the acts of which he colapts were not adverse action
and all of the County’s actions, including failucepromote, were ls@d on nondiscriminatory, non
pretextual reasons; (2)dtiff cannot establish a claim fortn@nal origin harassment under eithe

Title VII or FEHA; and (3) the claim under 42&IC. section 1981 fails as a matter of law and
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because Plaintiff cannot prove that the Couragt a custom, policy, and practice of unlawful
discrimination, retaliatin, and/or harassment.

Having carefully considered the papers submitted, the admissible evideeagearties’ oral
arguments, and the pleadings in this action, and for the reasons set forth below, the Court hq
ORDERS that the Motion for Summary JudgmenGRANTED IN PART AND DENIED IN PART. In
summary, the Court finds that only the claibased upon the existence of a hostile work
environment, due to evidence of national origgmassment, raise a triable issue of fact.

l. APPLICABLE STANDARD

Where the moving party will have therden of proof at trial, it musaffirmatively
demonstrate that no reasonable trieraat fcould find other than for the movimarty.
Soremekun v. Thrifty Payless In6Q9 F.3d 978, 994 (9th Cir. 2007). Oniasuewhere the
nonmoving party will bear the burdexi proof at trial,the moving partycanprevail merely by
pointing out to the district couthat there is an absence edfidenceo support the nonmoving
party’s case.Celotex 477 U.S. at 324-25. If thmovingparty meets its initial burden, the
opposing party must then set out specifictsshowing a genuine issue for trial in order to def
the motion. Anderson477 U.S. 242, 25Gsee alsdFed. R. Civ. P. 56(c)e).

When deciding a summary judgment moati a court must view the evidenoethe light
most favorable to the nonmoving party and draw all justifiable inferenciésfavor. Anderson

477 U.S. at 255Hunt v. City of Los Angele$38 F.3d 703, 70®th Cir. 2011) However, a

! Plaintiff included objections to evidence irs mesponsive separate statement, contrary
Civil Local Rule 7-3. The County has moved toks&trihose objections. Th&ounty is correct that
the objections were made improperly under thedl®ule. Moreover, the vast majority are
relevance objections without much consequeridee Court does not ruten those improperly mad
objections, but does consider the evidence in fie host favorable to Plaintiff, as it must on
summary judgment by the defendaAinderson v. Liberty Lobby, Inet77 U.S. 242, 255 (1986).
The County submitted objections to evidence asqdfats reply brief. (Dkt. No. 94-4.) The
Court rules as follows on those objectipftg purposes of this motion only:
e Objection 2 -SusTAINED for lack of personal knowledge, relevance;
e Objection 3 -SUSTAINED as inadmissible hearsay;
e Objection 9 -SusTAINED for lack of relevance
e Objection 10 -SUSTAINED IN PART, to the extent offered testablish discrimination or
harassment; otherwi$@vERRULED .
e All other objections ar©®VERRULED.
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district court may rule on summygjudgment based upon facts thaiuld be admissible in evidenc

at trial. Seeln re Oracle Corp. Sec. Litig627 F.3d 376, 385 (9th Cir. 2010); Fed. R. Civ. P. 56(c).

1)

I SUMMARY OF FACTS?

Plaintiff is of Iranian descent, angas born in Seattle, Washington. (UME) He began
working for the County as a deputy sheriff on JLily 1990, and was promoted to sergeant in 2002.
(UMF 2, 3)

A. Discriminatory Conduct/Comments Directed At Plaintiff

Plaintiff asserts that he wasbjected to national origin tessment by co-workers beginning
within first six months of employment and conting throughout his employment, increasing after

September 11, 2001. Plaintiff testified that hesweferred to as “camel jockey,” “sand nigger,”

“raghead,” “carpet rider,” “whackiraqgi” and “A-rab.” (AF 19.) Hdestified that he was asked:

“where is your red dot,” “arenitou supposed to be praying to thetgamnd “where is your carpet?
(Id.) He further testified that officers andpdeies yelled, weekly or sometimes more often,
“lalalalala,” (imitating anArabic ululative cry). Id.) Plaintiff also attested that three superiors,
Sergeant Chris Macedo, and Lieutenants Gatafa David Garzoli, made discriminatory
comments based upon national origin. According to Plaintiff, Macedo made comments abou
Plaintiff throwing a carpet on the ground and prayinthtoeast, as well asrsfing Plaintiff an eman

with a link to a video called “Achmed the Deadbeist.” Hall told Plantiff that the County’s

Canine Unit dog would “watch him in the concentration camps.” Garzoli addressed Plaintiff in an

email as “you terrorist.” The County disputaintiff's testimony as to these incidents of
harassment, contending that all of the witneseg®sed by Plaintiff denigtiese incidents.
B. On-Duty Misconduct IA

In September of 2006, Plaintiff admitted anident of misconduct: having sexual relation

)

with another County employee while on duty andmiform. (UMF 4.) In February 2007, at the

conclusion of an Internal Affairs (“IA”) investagion of the incident, Plaintiff was demoted to

% The facts stated are undispdtunless otherwise noted.

% References to “UMF” and “AF” are to tiparties’ Separate Sthent of Undisputed
Material Facts and Additional Factrespectively, and the admissible evidence cited therein.
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deputy, with a condition that heuld seek reinstatement to seagt if there were “no further
incidents” in the twelve-month ped thereafter. (UMF 6, 7.) Ptdiff testified that he did not
believe that his demotion was motivated by nationigin discrimination. (UMF 8.) He also
testified that the comments about his national origin significantly redud¢kei éitne, since he was
reassigned to a more remote area wifferent co-workers. (UMF 92.)

C. Neglect of Duty 1A

In December of 2007, Plaintiff was dispatcheda tall for service regarding an assault with
injuries, and possible gun involvement, at M&tdivn Middle School. (MF 10, 11.) Plaintiff
testified that he prepared a repiar a simple battery, but did ndeem it worthy of a more serious
level reporf (UMF 11 and Plaintiff's response thergt€Captain Brown learned of the incident
when the parent of the victinalled the Sheriff's Department tomplain. (UMF 13.) Brown
directed Plaintiff to prepare tregpropriate report, and initiated an IA intigation. (UMF 13, 14.)
The IA investigation found that Plaintiff had violated rules and @ns, and neglected his dutigs.
(UMF 15, 16, 17.) At the conclusion of the IA irstgation, in April 2008, Rlintiff was disciplined
with 20 hours of unpaid time off and a book repgtiMF 18.) In May 2008, Sheriff Mitchell
informed Plaintiff that he could ne reinstated to Sergeant at ttiae, as a consequence. (UMK
19.)

D. Denial of Promotion to Sergeant

In February of 2008, Plaintiff received “log standard” marks on his annual performancs

U

evaluation in the “field endorsement/service daty” category. (UMF 21, 22.) The poor marks

were based upon low numbers of arrests, citationsiceen’warrants as compat to his colleague

U)

(UMF 23-26.) Plaintiff contends thae was advised that he was abgible to take the promotional
exam because of this “below standard” maildMF 29 and AF 1.) Sometime around March 2009,

* There is some disparity in the record abouétlibr Plaintiff initiallyprepared any report at
all. Taking the evidence in ttight most favorable to Plairitj the Court credits Plaintiff’s
testimony that he prepared a “602 Welfamd énstitutions/242 Report” of the incident.
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Plaintiff took the sergeant exam, scoring38n the lowest out of ehnine participants. (UMF 30,
31.) Again, Plainff was not promoted. (UMF 32.)

E. EEOC Complaint and Subsequent Events

Around May 2009, then-sheriff candidate FrankdRo filed an EEOC complaint and bega
talking about issues of harassment and discriminatidine Sheriff's Department. Plaintiff testifie
that comments related to his national origin “picadly ceased” after Riverbled his charge. On
June 1, and apparently in response to Rivezomplaint, Plaintiff was interviewed by an
investigator for the Office of @nty Counsel regarding treatmentanority employees within the
Sheriff's Department.

On June 4, 2009, Plaintiff filed his own EE@omplaint against the County, alleging
national origin discrimin@on and charging that he had been satgd to slurs based on his nation
origin from 1990 throughout the duration of his eayphent, and that he was not promoted beca
of his national origin. Plaintiff claims that,lssequent to the filing dfis complaint, he was
subjected to write-ups and counseling as wetlexgal of overtime requests by Sergeants Maced
and Brian Matrtin. Sheriff Mitchell, upon learning Plaintif’'s EEOC Complaint, told Sergeant
Martin that he regretted not actieyy Plaintiff's offer to resign when the allegations of on-duty
misconduct came forward.

Later in June 2009, the County discovered a nurabermails on the printer at the office
that included comments abougkitiff's national origin. Captain Brown commenced an
investigation, locking Plaintiff out of his et account. On July 28, 2009, Brown commenced a

meeting with Plaintiff in which he went over éaemail and questioned Ri#if about whether he

was offended by the emails or wanted to makenaptaint. Those emails included the references

“you terrorist,” a video called “Achmed the Dead Terrorist,” and a lirkk hews article about a

camel beauty contest. In that meeting, PlHiatated he was not offended and did not want to

[®N

al

Lse

D

> Plaintiff's testimony was unclear on the exadedar dates he took a subsequent sergeant’s

exam. The County submitted evidence indicating that he submitted an exam in 2008 as well

® Plaintiff argued that he wasld by another employee thaetdeputy who was promoted
Sheriff in March 2009, Brian Kenner, was permittedatice the promotional exam despite having
below standard rating on his evaluation. Howefaintiff submitted no admissible evidence on
this point.
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complain. Plaintiff testifies thahe conversation witBrown was recorded, and that Brown repeated

each email to him in a hostile manner, askingraféeh one whether Plaintiff wanted to file a
complaint or was offended. Plaintiff was iss@etounseling statemendifter the interview.

Plaintiff recounts a number ofdrdents occurring thereafter:

e July 28, 2009, Plaintiff complained to Capt&lowe that he had been denied overtime in
violation of department policgy Sergeant Macedo. That denals reversed after Plaintiff
complained. A week later, Plaintiff was written up for failing to complete a Court Secu
log from a month prior.

e August 17, 2009, Plaintiff was issued a coumgeinemo regarding time card and overtim
corrections by Sergeant Brian Martin

e August 31, 2009, EEOC received the responseeoStieriff's Department to Plaintiff's
EEOC complaint, expressing “disappointment” witlaintiff, given theSheriff's efforts to
retain him as an employee and “give him every opportunity to resume his prior positio
sergeant.” (AF 4.)

e November 5, 2009, Plaintiff complained to GaptHowe that scheduled overtime he had
been granted was withdrawn at the lagstute and given to another senior deputy by
Sergeant Macedo. Again, the matter was ultimately resolved with a determination tha|
Plaintiff was entitled to the overtime.

e November 25, 2009, Sergeant Gregore sent mer@aptain Brown sayinthat Plaintiff was
at home when he was supposed to be working scheduled overtime. This prompted C
Brown to order an IA investigain (“Time Spent At Home |IA”).

(SeeAF 4, 7, 8, 9, 10, 11, and responses thereto.)

In early February 2010, Sergeant Brian Martoticed a copy of a draft crime report
concerning a former Sheriff's Depamént officer had been postedan internet weblog. (UMF 34.
Martin reported the same to @ain Brown, who initiated an ingégation. (UMF 35, 37.) Based
the circumstances and the persafith access to the Sheriff's dataleaat the time the draft was
generated, likely suspects were Sheriff's Dépant employees. (UMF 36, 39.) A computer
records audit indicated that Ri&ff was one of a handful of pple who had accessed the documg
and that he accessed it twice dgrihe relevant time period, whigethumb drive was inserted in a
system computer. (UMF 40-43.) Sergeant Martentiought a search wamntdo search Morshed’
home. (UMF 48.) He included the application hisanclusions that Morshed might have a mot

to post the information to the internet, incluglihis demotion, had filed an EEOC complaint, and
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potentially was a disgruntled employee who might wametaliate against éhSheriff’'s Department.

Martin also noted that Sheriff Mitchell was up feelection that year and that Plaintiff was a
supporter of his challenger, Riee (UMF 49, 50.) A Lake @unty Superior Court judge found
probable cause and issued arsh warrant, which Sergeant Ma executed. (UMF 52.)

On February 10, 2010, Plaintiff was placed omeuistrative leave pending the criminal
investigation. (UMF 53.) That same day, Martieexted on the search wanrtat Plaintiff’'s home,
finding a thumb drive with the same serial numbedhasdevice that was inserted into the compu
that Plaintiff was sitting at thtime that the draft report wemmoved from the Department’s
computer system. (UMF 57.)

As part of the IA investigation into theos&n computer files, on March 4, 2010, Plaintiff
appeared as ordered, with hauasel, for interviews. (UMF 60.) Plaintiff was provided with his
Lybarger admonitions ant/liranda warnings and informed thahwrefusal to cooperate could be
considered insubordination and subject to furthscidline. (UMF 61.) Brown specifically advisg
Plaintiff that failure to cooperate in the adminisitra internal affairs investigation would constitut

give rise to a separateange of insubordination.ld.) Plaintiff refused to answer any questions

during the interviews. (UMF 62, 63Rlaintiff's refusal to answaras deemed insubordination, of

which he was duly noticed on March 4. (UMF 65.) On March 19, 2010, he was terminated f(
insubordination. (UMF 68.) As Plaintiff conces] it was the insubordination charge, and not th
stolen computer files chge, that resulted in htermination. (UMF 70.)

On June 6, 2010, an editorial piece written bgr8hMitchell appeared in the in the Lake
County News, wherein he referred to Rivero gsrafessional victim,” and someone whose “clog

allies are former law enforcement officers whoyad to be professional victims too.” (AF 6.)

” In Lybarger v. City of Los Angele$) Cal.3d 822 (1985), the California Supreme Cour
held that a police officer must beld “that although héad the right to remain silent and not
incriminate himself, (1) his silence could besgded insubordination, leading to administrative
discipline, and (2) any statemanade under the compulsion of theetit of such discipline could
not be used against him in any subsequent criminal proceetlingt’829. UndeLybarger,the
officer has “neither a constitutional nor a statutory right to remain silent free of administrative
sanction...a public employee has no absolute rightfiesse to answer potentially incriminating
guestions posed by his employer... [and Cal. G8@de] Section 3303, subsion (e), expressly
provides that an officer who refust respond to questions or subto interrogation is subject to
punitive action by his employerld. at 827-828.
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On March 21, 2012, the EEOC sent Plaintiff a dateation letter concerning the charge ¢
national origin discrimination antarassment with the findings of itesestigation, finding evidenct
to support some but not all Bfaintiff's claims. (AF 20.)

1. DiscussioN

A. Harassment On the Basis of National Origin

Plaintiff brings separate claims for haragsion the basis of national origin under FEHA
and Title VII. Under FEHA, harassment on the badinational origin is considered a form of
employment discrimination. Seoti 12940(h)(1) states that it is aniful “[flor an employer... or
other any other person, because of...nationalrarigto harass an employee or applicant.
Harassment of an employee or applicant by an employher than an agent or supervisor shall
unlawful if the entity, or its ageés or supervisors, knows or shdidiave known of this conduct and
fails to take immediate and appra@e corrective action.” CaliforaiCode of Regulations, Title 2,
section 7287.6, subdivision (b)(1)(A) defines Isaraent to include “[v]erbal harassmeny.
epithets, derogatory comments or slurs onsasbenumerated” in FEHA. Likewise, verbal

harassment may constitute employment discrimination under TitleM&titor Sav. Bank, FSB v.

Vinson 477 U.S. 57, 65 (1986) (citing, with approval, teebstantial body of judicial decisions and

EEOC precedent holding that Title VII affords employees the right to work in an environment
from discriminatory intimidation, ridicule @ insult” based on race and national origg®e also
Aguilar v. Avis Rent A Car Sys., In21 Cal. 4th 121, 129 (“Verbal hasanent in the workplace al
may constitute employment discrimination unfigitle VII”). “Expl aining the potentially
debilitating effects of this forraf employment discrimination, tHenited States Supreme Court h{
observed: ‘A discriminatorily abusive wodhavironment... can andteh will detract from
employees’ job performance, discourage emplojreas remaining on the job, or keep them from
advancing in their careers.’Aguilar, 21 Cal.4th at 130, quotintdarris v. Forklift Systems, In&10
U.S. 17, 22 (1993).

FEHA and Title VII conduct the same aysik regarding harassment clain®ee Hughes v.
Pair, 46 Cal.4th 1035, 1042-43 (200¥asquez v. County of Los Angel@49 F.3d 634, 642 (9th

Cir. 2003). To establish a hostile work eviment harassment claim based on national origin,

—
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Plaintiff must establish thrggima facieelements: “(1) he was sudgjted to verbal or physical
conduct [because of his natiomaigin]; (2) the conduct was urelcome, and (3) the conduct was
sufficiently severe or pervasive to alter the ctinds of plaintiff’'s employment and create an
abusive working environment.Vasquez349 F.3d at 64%ee also Lyle v. Warner Brothers

Television Productiong88 Cal.4th 265, 279 (2006). Under California and federal law, the exis

of a hostile work environment depends upon the totafithe circumstances. As the Ninth Circuit

stated invasquez

To determine whether conduct was sufficiersiyere or pervasive to violate Title
VII, we look at all the circumstaes, including the frequency of the
discriminatory conduct; its severity; etier it is physically threatening or
humiliating, or a mere offensive utterane@d whether it unreasonably interferes
with an employee’s work performanckn addition, the working environment
must both subjectively and objectiyde perceived as abusive.

Vasquez349 F.3d at 642 (internal quotations and citations omitse&) alsdkehmani v. Sup.Ct.
(Ericsson, Inc.204 Cal.App.4th 945, 953-959 (2012) (granting wrinandate to reverse a grant
summary judgment where triable issues asattonal origin hostile work environment claim by
Pakistani Muslim employee were establisheseolaupon evidence of Indian corkers making joke
regarding plaintiff blowing thingap and planning terrorist attackbat Pakistan should be bombe]
and wiped out, and that plaifits birthday was September 1Bl|-Hakem v. BJY Inc415 F.3d
1068, 1074 (9th Cir. 2005) (digtt court properly denied sumary judgment where evidence
showed that CEO persisted in aiitg plaintiff’'s Arabic name in favor of a non-Arabic name, first
altering the name Mamdouh to “Manny” and thnchanging Hakem to “Hank,” in weekly

meetings and in emails for almost a yeagpike plaintiff's requesthat he not do so).

Under FEHA, an employer may be held liable for coworker harassment only where the

employer “knows or should have known of this coridurd fails to take aoective action.” Cal.

Govt. Code 8§ 12940(j)(1). However, “[b]Jecauseehgployer cloaks the supervisor with authority
we ordinarily attribute the supervisor’'s conductdtly to the employer” for purposes of harassm
liability. Dee v. Vintage Petroleum, Ind.06 Cal. App. 4th 30, 36 (2003joting Brooks v. City off
San Mateo229 F.3d 917, 927 n. 9 (9th Cir. 2000). Undetase circumstances, even a single ra
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slur by a supervisor — a person in a position tfiawty in the workplace say be found to create a
hostile work environmentld.

Here, the County argues that #ténic slurs allegedly madegarding Plaintiff's Iranian
descent were made only by coworkers, andBtaintiff never made a complaint about the
comments. The County also argues that ligbtannot be shown merely on the basis that a
supervisomwitnessedhe discriminatory comments. The County’s argument fails both on the fgcts
and the law. The County citdse Supreme Court’s decision@ark County School District v.
Breeden532 U.S. 268, 271 (2001). @lark County the Supreme Court held that a supervisor’'s
comment, coupled with a co-workenesponse during the same magtidid not rise to the level of]
being “extremely serious” but was, at worst, amdated incident that could not meet Title VII's
“severe or pervasive” standard for sexual harassnt@atk County 532 U.S. at 271 (not
sufficiently severe or pervasive to constitute sexual harassment). The hol@ilagkrCountydoes
not permit a credible argument that an employerasand liability for harassment if a supervisor
“only withessed” repeated use of ethnic sliike those to which Plaintiff testifies heteMoreover,
Plaintiff has put forward evidence that employgesupervisory positions, including Sergeant
Macedo and Sergeant McMahon, participated irethaic slurs as well agitnessing them and
laughing along with the group making them. (Response to UMF 75, 76, 79, 96; AF 12, 19.)

The County also argues that Plaintiff has affered evidence that the alleged comments
affected his work environment. However, evigRlaintiff never lost pay, benefits, or other
opportunities as a result tife repeated ethnic slurs by hipstwisors and co-workers, the County
could still be liable for discrimination as a resulttoé hostile work environment. As the Supremge

Court has recognized, it is theveee or pervasive harassméself that alters the conditions of

8 The County’s citation twilliamson v. Adventist Health Sys./Sunbelt,, 82 F. App’x
936, 940 (11th Cir. 2010) is also unavailing. Eveihéf case were citable &ority, which it is not
under Fed. Rule of Appellateddedure 32.1, the case is inagpmsThe case was focused on
whether an isolated comment by a supervisor, rechovéme from the termination, was sufficienf
to evidence of pretext in a wrongful termimaticase, rather than any claim of hostile work
environment harassment.

® To the extent the County is attempting tgua that the supervisbhere were not in a
position to exercise authorigver Plaintiff, the evidenceelies that argumentSéeAF 7, 8
[Sergeant Macedo issued disciplinary letter to Rifdimlenied overtime requests made by Plaintiff]).

10
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employment.Meritor Sav. Bank, FSB v. Vinsofi7r7 U.S. 57, 64 (1986). T[he language of Title
VIl is not limited to ‘economicor ‘tangible’ discrimination... [tlhe phrase ‘terms, conditions, or
privileges of employment’ evinces a congressiomant “to strike at tle entire spectrum of
disparate treatment of mencawomen’ in employment.’ld.

The evidence of Plaintiff's subjective fadi that his work environment was abusive or
hostile is somewhat equivocal, mévertheless could suppaf finding that hesubjectively felt it
was abusive. Though Plaintiff did not complalvout the conduct, he offers evidence that
supervisors witnessed and particgzhtn the conduct, so that hdibeed that the conduct was just
accepted in the Sheriff's Department and he shouldayptnything if he wanted to keep his job.
(UMF 96 and Plaintiff's responsedteto.) The County argues thiagcause Plaintiff denied being
offended by the comments found in several envélisn confronted by Captain Brown in June 20
this shows Plaintiff was not offended by any claimed conduct. Plasntiéfhial that he was

offended, given the context, does not aid the GouAs Plaintiff testified, he perceived the

guestioning by Captain Brown as done in an exétgrhostile manner. (AF 12, Morshed Dec. 15|

The circumstances of the questioning — that it veasnded by the Captaithat it was done in the
context of an investigation that included em#ilst Plaintiff had sengnd that it resulted in a
disciplinary counseling letter being placed in Piéfis file thereafter —could give rise to a
reasonable inference that Plaintiffidiot feel he could speak freelyaut the ethnic slurs directed
him. Moreover, Plaintiff had just given a statarhon June 1, 2009, to the independent investig

about two weeks before CaptdBnown’s questioning. Plaintiff’'statement to the investigator,

consistent with his other statements, was thathteédtad withnessed andpetienced minorities being

the brunt of jokes based on ethnicitlyat it was part of the cultune the Sheriff’'s Department, and
bothered him some but he did saty anything about it. (Response to UMF 95, Morshed Dec.
Hat1-2)

Further, there is both an obje@ and subjective element taetlquestion of whether alleged
harassing conduct is sufficientliyv&e or pervasive enough to risethe level of a hostile work
environment.See Vasque349 F.3d at 64%ee also Rehmani v. Superior Co@@4 Cal. App. 4th
945, 951-52 (2012) (**Common sense, and an approséatsibility to social context, will enable
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courts and juries to distinguish between dartpasing or roughhousing and conduct [that] a
reasonable person in the plaifii position would find severeliostile or abusive,” quotiniyliller

v. Dept. of Corrections36 Cal.4th 446, 462 (2005) a@hcale v. Sundowner Offshore Services,

Inc., 523 U.S. 75, 81-82 (1998)). The decision whetherwtiratosses that line is one that is highly

factual. From an objective, reasonablespa standpoint, the comments, emails and conduct
directed at Plaintiff, deriding hi based on his national origin, cowlertainly give rise to a finding
of a hostile work environment. Thus, based aneahidence put forward by Plaintiff, there are
disputed issues of material facthe Court cannot say, as a mattelaw, that the conduct describg
by Plaintiff is not sufficiently sewve and pervasive, both objectivelgd subjectively, taonstitute a
hostile work environment. Summary judgment on this claim is, theré&daregD .
B. National Origin Discrimination
1. McDonnell-DouglasBurden Shifting

Plaintiff has also alleged thhe suffered national origingtirimination when he was not
reinstated as a sergeant after his disciplinary demotHe claims that he was not allowed to see
promotion in 2008 on account of a low mark on his performance evaluation while another de
who is Caucasian/White, with a similarly low mavks permitted to participate in a promotional
exam for a sergeant position. Plaintiff contendd this denial of a pmotional opportunity, along
with the history of national origiharassment by co-workers and swjsors, demonstrates that he
was subjected to national origin discrimination.

Discrimination claims based upon indirect acamstantial evidence @ranalyzed under §
allocation of burdens of producticandproof, based on the model set forthMeDonnell-
DouglasCorp. v. Green411 U.S.792(1973) Under theMcDonnell-Douglasramework, the
burden of production first fallenthe plaintiff to make out prima faciecase of discrimination.
The plaintiff must show that: (1) he belongsat@rotected class; (2) he was qualified for the
position he heldor for the position to which he wishdd be promoted and for which he
applied); (3)hewas terminated or demoted from (or denied a promotion to) that position; g
thejob went to someone outside the protected cl&sMary’'s Honor Center \Hicks,509 U.S.

502,506(1993); McGinest vGTE Serv. Corp360 F.3d 1103, 1122 (9th CRk004) If the
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plaintiff establishes @arima faciecase of discrimination, the burder production shifts to the
employer, who must present evidence sufficient to pettmaifactfinder to conclude that the
employer had a legitimate, nondiscriminatory reakmrthe adverse employment actioft.
Mary’s Honor Center 509 U.S. at 506-07. theemployer does so, the plaintiff must
demonstrate that the employer’s articulatedsons a pretext for unlawful discrimination by

either directly persuading the court that scdiminatory reason more likely motivated the

employer, or indirectly by showinthatthe employer’s proffered reason is unworthy of credegnce.

Texas Dep’t ofommunityAffairs v. Burding 450 U.S. 248, 256 (1981%ee also Aragon v.
Republic SilveiStateDisposal. Inc.,292 F.3d 654, 658-59 (9th Cir. 2002) (&enc)

Because of the similarity between state &deral employment discrimination laws,
California discrimination claims under the Fair Employment and Housing Act (FEHA) (Cal. G
Code § 12940 et seq.) are evaldatientically to claims assed under Title VII (42 U.S.C. §
2000e). See Guz v. Bechtel Nat'l, Ine4 Cal. 4th 317, 354 (2000). Like Title VII case law,
California has adopted thimirden-shifting approacHhd.

2. Analysis

Here, Plaintiff has failed to offer evidence to create a triable issue qnithe facie

elements of his discrimination promotion claim. While Plaintiftontends that he was denied th

opportunity to take the promotional exam in 2@d8account of his national origin, he does not p

forward admissible evidence to establish this elemEinst, Plaintiff has nogstablished that he was

gualified for a promotion to sergeant in 20@Befendant has submitted evidence showing that
Plaintiff had been subjected to a disciplyndemotion of one-yeaconditioned upon no further
misconduct. (UMF 7.) Plaintiff failed to meetaticondition due to his send disciplinary issue fo
Neglect of Duty in connection with the middlehsol incident. (UMF 191md Plaintiff's response
thereto.) He was informed at that time thatvoaild not be eligible for promotion due to that
misconduct.ld. And, aside from this second incident of misconduct, he received below stand
scores on his performance evaluation. (UMF 21-29a)intiff offers no evidnce to counter this

showing by Defendant or creatérimble issue on his eligibilitfor promotion in 2008. It is
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undisputed Plaintiff was deemeligéole to promote in 2009, and thiaé tested and interviewed, b
was not promoted. (UMF 30, 31, 32.)

Second, Plaintiff does not offer admissible evide that others similarly situated were
treated more favorably in terms of promotiorséwgeant. Plaintiff proffers only his own testimon|
that he heard from someone else that theopgosomoted to sergeant in March of 2009 had a po
rating on an evaluation, but wadlstilowed to take the promotiohexam. Thus, the only evidend
Plaintiff offers to establish that others werreated differently is inadmissible hearsay and
speculation. The Court notes that, although a mati@ompel further responses to discovery w4
pending at the time of the summary judgment Imegin this matter, and has since been decided

partially in favor of Plaintiff (Dkt. No. 102), Plaiiff never made any request under Rule 56(d) fq

continuance of the hearing torpet him to present other evidenaa this point. By offering nothing

more than this single piece of inadmissible hearsay, Plaintiff hasstadilished a triable issu8ee
Montgomery v. Am. Airlines, In&26 F.3d 382 (7th Cir. 2010) (in an unlawful discrimination ca
plaintiff's uncorroborated self-serving testimoalyout a factual matter involving other employee
gualifications cannot create a trialdsue of fact as to whether coygloyees were similarly situate
to plaintiff without establishing a foundatidéor personal knowledge of the co-employees’

gualifications);Vasquez v. County of Los Angel@$9 F.3d 634, 640 (9th Cir. 2003) (plaintiff did

not establish prima facie case in the absence oéregathat he was treatdiferently on account of

his national origin).

Because Plaintiff has not offered admissiblelence from which a reasonable jury could
find either that he was qualified to seek the ppban to sergeant in 2008, or that some other pe
outside his protected class was allowed to be predniot sergeant despite a similar disqualificati
Plaintiff has failed to establish hisipia facie case as a matter of la®eeSt. Mary’s Honor Cente
v. Hicks,509 U.S.502, 506(1993); McGinest vGTE Serv. Corp360 F.3d 1103, 1122 (9th
Cir. 2004) Thus, the County’s motmofor summary judgment onelfiritle VIl and FEHA claims
for failure to promote must HBRANTED.

C. Retaliation
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To establish a retaliation claiomder Title VII, “a plaintiff mst show (1) involvement in a
protected activity, (2) an adveremployment action[,] and (3)ausal link between the two.”

Brooks v. City of San Mate@29 F.3d 917, 928 (9th Cir. 2000). Once established, the burden

to the employer to present legitimate masfor the adverse employment actideh. If the employer

does so, the burden shifts back to plaintiff to destrate a genuine issuernéterial fact as to
whether the reason advanced by the employer was a pitdteRt FEHA retaliation claim requires
this same burden shifting analysisl., citing Flait v. North Am. Watch Cor8,Cal.App.4th 467,
476 (1992). Pretext may be inferred from the tignof the discharge deston, the identity of the
decision maker, or by the discharged emgpk’s job performance before terminatidtianson v.
Lucky Stores, IncZ4 Cal.App.4th 215, 224 (1999).

Plaintiff claims that he was subjected to a bemof retaliatory acts after speaking with th
County’s investigator and submitting an EEOC charge contends that the County’s retaliation
took the form of denial of overtime, scrutiny of his time cards, unwarranted internal affairs an
criminal investigations and, ultimately, his terntioa. He also cites as evidence of retaliatory
animus: (1) the Sheriff's response of “disappmient” to his complaint in the official EEOC
response; (2) the Sheriff’s refertal Rivero and his ‘losest allies” as “professional victims,” in
apparent reference to filing EEOC complairi8;hostile questioning by Captain Brown in
connection with the investigation of emails seyptMacedo to Plaintiff; and (4) mention of the
EEOC complaint as part of thedimfor seeking a search warrahlaintiff's home in connection
with the Stolen Property IA.

On the one hand, most of the conduct Rifficites does not amount to an adverse
employment action on its own. As Plaintiff concedls overtime shifts he was initially denied
were granted once he ptad out the error. SeeAF 8 and response thereto). He cites to no adv
consequences of the scrutiny of his time car@sefF 9 and response thereto.) The fact that he
was subject to internal affaiesad criminal investigations,astding alone, is not an adverse
employment actionMclnnis v. Town of WestpB875 F. Supp. 2d 70, 84-85 (D. Conn. 2005).

On the other hand, termination is thergassential adverse employment acti@eeCal.

Gov't Code section 12940(h) (unlawful tdischarge expel, or otherwise discriminate against an
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person because the person has opposed any prdotigieislen under” FEHA) (emphasis supplied
see also Sada v. Robert F. Kennedy Medical CebéeCal.App.4th 138, 161 (1997). However,
Plaintiff has failed to offer evidence from whichemsonable jury could infer that his termination
was on account of retaliation for hpsotected complaints. In particular, the causal chain is broK
by the fact that Plaintiff refused to cooperatéhi@ criminal investigation of the stolen computer
files, despite &ybargeradmonition warning him that failute cooperate would be considered
insubordination and grounds for termination. (UBIE63.) Plaintiff’'s agument that the 1A
investigations were just a peat for finding some reason to diglkine him simply is not supported
by the evidence, given that the ultimate reasomifotermination was refusal to cooperate in the
criminal investigation regarding the stolen computer fifesience, summary judgment on these
grounds is appropriatelgRANTED.

D. Section 1981/1983 Claim

The County argues that itesititled to summary judgmeaon Plaintiff's claim under 42
U.S.C. section 1981 because Plaintiff has not offered evidence of a “policy or custom,” which
must in order to state aaiin against a public entify. The Court agrees thatclaim for violation of
section 1981, while permitting a datecause of action against a puldiatity, still requires a showin
that Plaintiff's rights were violad as a result of the County’s ‘lfmy or custom,” similar to a claim

under section 1983See Federation of African Amoftractors v. City of Oaklan®6 F.3d 1204,

19 The undisputed facts also indicate thatr#ason Plaintiff was investigated in connectic
with the Stolen Property IA wasbause a general audit e computer system determined that
accessed a particular version of the report as itezkia a certain time frame, and, at the time he
accessed the report, a removable “thumb drive”mserted into the computer from which he
accessed it. (UMF 41-45.)

en

he

DN
ne

' The County also raised an argument in its moving papers, essentially abandoned adn ref

that Plaintiff cannot bring a&im for discrimination based arational origin under section 1981,
only discrimination based upon “race.” Such aguamnent is foreclosed by the Supreme Court’s

holding inSaint Francis Coll. v. Al-Khazragj481 U.S. 604, 613, 107 S. Ct. 2022, 2028, 95 L. Ed.

582 (1987) (“Based on the history of § 1981, we Hdtle trouble in concluding that Congress
intended to protect from disanination identifiable classes persons who are subjected to
intentional discrimination solely becausetloéir ancestry or ethnic characteristicssgg also El-
Hakem, supra415 F.3d 1068, 1073 (9th Cir. 2005) (hkestvork environment claim based upon
plaintiff's Arabic ancestry).
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1215 (9th Cir. 1996) (finding impleeright of action under 1991 CivRights Act amendments to 4
U.S.C. 81981, and similar “policy or customgrerement as under section 1983, based on simil
language)accord Pittman v. Oregon, Employment Dep@9 F.3d 1065, 1070 (9th Cir. 2007)
(following Federatior). “Analysis of an employment stirimination claim under § 1981 follows tH
same legal principles as those applicabla Title VIl disparate treatment cas€dnseca v. Sysco
Food Servs. of Arizona, InB74 F.3d 840, 850 (9th Cir. 2004)Both require proof of
discriminatory treatment and the same sdtofs can give risw both claims.”Lowe v. City of
Monrovia, 775 F.2d 998 (9th Cir.1985).

With respect to the discrimination in promotion and the retaliation claims, summary
judgment is appropriate for the same reasors¢aded above. With respt to the hostile work
environment discrimination claim, likewise, the evidershows that there are triable issues of fa
to whether the conduct was sufficiently severe erdasive, and whether the County’s supervis
participated in the conduct such tladtpolicy or custom” can be establish€dThus, summary
judgment as to Plaintiff’'s claim under section 198GRANTED IN PART to the extent it is based
upon discrimination in promotion and retaliation, &wNIED IN PART to the extent it is based upd
Plaintiff's hostile work environment theory.

IV.  CONCLUSION

Accordingly, the Motion for Summary JudgmenGrANTED IN PART AND DENIED IN PART
as follows:

Summary judgment IGRANTED in favor of the County as tlaintiff's First Cause of Actio
for Discrimination on the Basis d&fational Origin under Title VIfor denial of a promotional
opportunity; Third Cause of Action for Retaliation under Title VII; Fourth Cause of Action for

Discrimination on the Basis of National Originder FEHA; Sixth Cause @iction for Retaliation

12 The Court notes that, while the County hagued Plaintiff cannagstablish a policy or
custom, the County did not specdlty identify the facs it believes negate this elemengeé
Defendant’s Separate StatemenMaterial Facts, Dkt. No. 44-6 [no facts identified specifically
related to section 1981 claim].) &lonly facts offered by the Countgarently relatetb this issue
are: (1) the existence of Courgglicies against discrimination ahdrassment; and (2) the County
contentions that no supervisors participated éndthnic slurs. As std above, Plaintiff has
submitted evidence to create a dispute on the questisupervisor participation in the alleged
harassment.
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under FEHA; and Seventh Cause of Action for ®imn of the Civil Rights Act of 1871, 42 U.S.Q.
§ 1981 to the extent based upon denial of a promotional opporaundtyetaliation.

Summary judgment IBENIED as to Plaintiff's Second Cause of Action for Hostile
Environment National Origin Harassment und#le1VII; Fifth Cause of Action for Hostile
Environment National Origin Harassment undeHRE and Seventh Cause Attion for Violation
of the Civil Rights Act of 1871, 42 U.S.C.18981 to the extent based upon hostile work
environment.

This terminates Docket No. 62.

I T1sSo ORDERED.

Dated: May 1, 2014 f 6[ ; Z(‘

(/ Yvonne GoNZaLez Rocers
UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT JUDGE
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